OA 3-6.96

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 21 1996

CASE NO. 86,650

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Office Deputy Glerk

PHILLIP CAMPBELL,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WM. J. SHEPPARD RICHARD W. SMITH Sheppard and White, P.A. 215 Washington Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-9661

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Phillip Campbell, will be referred to herein by name or as "petitioner." Respondent, State of Florida, will be referred to herein as the "State" or "respondent." References to the record on appeal will be designated by reference to the relevant volume and page, set forth in brackets. Example, [R.I, 1].

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Phillip Campbell was stopped on Friday, May 7, 1993, around 6:00 p.m., at a "police traffic safety stop" by officers of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office. [R.I, 1-4]. The "safety stop" was conducted on a three-quarter mile segment of a two-lane road between two curves in the 11800 block of Mandarin Road, a residential area, during busy traffic conditions. [R.I, 4; II, 16-17, 24, 38]. The roadblock was conducted largely at night under varied available lighting conditions. [R.II, 29-30]. Cones and signs were placed on or near the roadway, but the record does not reflect their degree of visibility or readability. [R.II, 7-8]. At this safety stop or roadblock, police officers checked for traffic and automobile safety violations pursuant to §316.610, Fla. [R.II, 6-10, 15-16, 27-28, 33, 39]. Motorcycle officers with radar equipment were posted at the scene at each end of the roadblock area to monitor speed. [R.II, 24].

On two or three occasions during the "safety stop," groups of cars in undetermined numbers, perhaps totalling 30 to 60, were permitted to pass unchecked through the safety stop to alleviate traffic backups. [R.II, 9-11, 34-37; III, 47]. Decisions to permit cars to pass unchecked were within the discretion of officers at the scene. [R.II, 36-37]. The only written guidelines for the operation at issue, in a Directed Patrol Worksheet, stated that the problem sought to be addressed was "speeding" and that officers would "stop motorists for a traffic safety check." [R.I, 30]. In contrast, Jacksonville Sheriff's Office Operational Order

12.1.1 requires that a Directed Patrol Worksheet specify procedures regarding the selection of vehicles to be stopped, detention techniques and duty assignments for all officers involved. [R.I, 47-48].

After requesting Mr. Campbell's driver's license and registration at the roadblock, an officer discovered that Mr. Campbell's license had been suspended on September 12, 1992. [R.I, 4]. Mr. Campbell was then transported to the county jail where officers searched Mr. Campbell and found contraband in a sock, resulting in the criminal charge at issue in this case. [R.I, 1-2].

Mr. Campbell filed his Motion to Suppress Fruits of Illegal Arrest on August 20, 1993, to exclude the contraband as evidence in this case. [R.I, 23-24]. Mr. Campbell filed a supporting memorandum of law on September 2, 1993. [R.I, 25-29]. A hearing on the motion was held on September 2, 1993 and September 17, 1993. [R.II, III]. His motion was denied on September 17, 1993, without findings of fact or conclusions of law. [R.I, 32]. Mr. Campbell subsequently entered a plea of nolo contendere, specifically reserving the right to appeal the denial of his Motion to Suppress. [R.I, 34-35; IV, 71-72, 77-78]. The parties stipulated that the suppression issue addressed in this appeal is dispositive of the case. [R.I, 34-35; IV, 71-72, 78].

The First District Court of Appeals on October 13, 1995, affirmed the trial judge's order denying petitioner's motion to suppress. Judge VanNortwick wrote a dissenting opinion. The

petitioner timely petitioned this Court for certiorari, and the Court accepted jurisdiction on January 26, 1996. The petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The roadblock in the instant case violated the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. Stopping a vehicle and its occupant is a seizure for purposes of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. Accordingly, such a seizure must be reasonable. Reasonableness is determined by analyzing the gravity of the public concerns served by the seizure, the degree to which the seizure advances the public interest, and the severity of the intrusion on individual liberty.

First, the gravity of the public concerns of speeding and safety equipment violations served by the roadblock at which Phillip Campbell was stopped in this case is slight in comparison to more serious concerns, such as drunken driving and illegal drug transportation. The lower the State's interest, the lower the degree of intrusion that will be tolerated. Education of the public and prevention of safety equipment violations is not sufficient to warrant the intrusive roadblock established in the instant case.

second, the degree to which the roadblock in this case advances the public interest is minimal. The use of radar units and the giving out of citations, as common sense and experience teaches, will result, at best, in temporary and isolated effects.

Third, the severity of the interference with individual liberty in this case is excessive because the roadblock was

conducted in a congested, residential area during night hours under circumstances that rendered the roadblock dangerous and surprising to the public. Officers at the scene possessed and exercised unlimited discretion because of the absence of adequate written guidelines. Further, the police could have employed less intrusive alternatives, such as routine patrols, rather than a discretionary roadblock to address speeding and equipment safety concerns.

Accordingly, the appellate court erred in affirming the denial of Mr. Campbell's dispositive Motion to Suppress Fruits of Illegal Arrest and this Court should vacate his conviction.

ARGUMENT

Stopping a vehicle and detaining its occupants, even if only for a brief time, constitutes a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, and accordingly, must be reasonable. Michigan Dept. of State Police v. Sitz, 496 U.S. 444 (1990); Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648 (1979); United States v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543 (1976). constitutionality of a seizure is judged by balancing the degree of intrusion on an individual's constitutional interests in privacy and personal security against the seizure's promotion of legitimate governmental interests. State v. Jones, 483 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1986) (citing, Brown v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47 (1979), and Prouse, supra, at 656-57). The reasonableness or unreasonableness of the intrusion caused by a roadblock is ascertained on an individual basis considering all relevant circumstances. Cardwell v. State, 482 So.2d 512, 514 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The three factors to consider in determining the unreasonableness of a roadblock are (1) the gravity of the public concerns served by the seizure (i.e., the state's interest), (2) the degree to which the seizure advances that public interest (i.e., the extent to which the roadblock reasonably advances that interest), and (3) the severity of the interference with individual liberty (i.e., the degree of intrusion upon individual motorists). Sitz, supra at 455; Brown, supra at 50-51 (1979); Jones, supra at 435.

THE STATE'S INTEREST IN SLOWING DOWN VEHICLES, EDUCATING THE PUBLIC AND CHECKING FOR EQUIPMENT PROBLEMS IS INSUFFICIENT TO SATISFY CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARDS.

Petitioner, Phillip Campbell, was stopped in his vehicle at a "police traffic safety stop" by officers of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office. The "safety stop" was conducted largely at night on a three-quarter mile segment of a two-lane road between two curves in a residential area during busy traffic conditions.

[R.II, 16-17, 24, 38]. The purported reasons for the stop were to slow down vehicles, to educate and to check for equipment problems.

[R.III, 51]. After it was discovered that Mr. Campbell had a suspended license, he was transported to the county jail where officers searched him and found powder cocaine and marijuana in his sock. The First District below, in Campbell v. State, ____ So.2d ____, 20 F.L.W. D2132 (Fla. 1st DCA, September 13, 1995), found that the trial court did not err in denying Mr. Campbell's Motion to Suppress the seized evidence.

The majority opinion of the <u>Campbell</u> decision recognizes that the State has an interest in regulating the speed of vehicles and their fitness for operation. In its Directed Patrol Worksheet (DPW), which governed the challenged roadblock, the law enforcement agency indicated two motivating public concerns: driving in excess of the posted speed limit and driving with safety equipment violations. However, merely recognizing the State has an interest in preventing speeders and safety equipment violations is insufficient under the <u>Brown</u> balancing test. There needs to be

some consideration of the weight to give to the State's interest. The greater the state interest, the more weight is given to that factor.

In the instant case, the State's interest cannot reasonably be argued to be great. There are State interests in preventing other vehicular-related problems that deserve much more weight than the prevention of speeders and equipment violators. Compared to the gravity of other vehicular offenses, such as driving under the influence and vehicle transportation of illegal drugs, the gravity of public concerns with speeding and equipment violations is small.

For example, the State has a compelling interest in protecting the public from drunk drivers. State v. Jones, 483 So.2d 433, 439 (Fla. 1986). In Jones, this Court considered whether a roadblock established for the purpose of apprehending DUI drivers was constitutionally valid. This Court applied the Brown v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47 (1979) balancing test which includes consideration of the gravity of the public concern. Id. at 435. Although the gravity of detecting drunken drivers is great, it was not sufficient to authorize the roadblock in Jones. This Court found the roadblock invalid. Id. at 439; see Michigan Dept. of State Police v. Sitz, 496 U.S. 444 (1990). The State's interest in preventing citizens from exceeding posted speed limits or in preventing equipment problems such as window tint or defective brake lights is certainly less compelling than the State's interest in preventing drunken drivers. The interests allegedly advanced under the Directed

Patrol Worksheet are simply insufficient to justify the intrusive roadblock in the instant case.

The dissenting opinion in the <u>Campbell</u> case below explained the great difference between the interests advanced in other roadblocks and the interests allegedly advanced in the instant case:

As the advanced governmental interest becomes more compelling, logically, under the balancing test, it will carry more weight.

Even though the Florida Legislature has recognized a state interest in vehicle safety adopting laws mandating certain motor vehicle equipment, sections 316.215-316.6105, Florida Statutes (1993), and by authorizing police officers to stop and inspect a motor vehicle "upon reasonable cause to believe that vehicle is unsafe or not equipped as required by law, " section 316.610(1), Florida Statutes (1993), the Legislature has not concluded that the public's concern with vehicle safety is sufficiently grave to enact specific statutory authorization for advancing the enforcement of motor vehicle safety and equipment laws through the use of police roadblocks. Further, in 1981, the Legislature Florida's statewide system repealed inspection and motor vehicle certification, Ch. 81-212, 1981 Fla. Laws 840, 325.11-325.33, Florida repealing sections Statutes (1979) [repealed]; and, even while the safety inspection system was in place, operation of an automobile without a valid inspection sticker was only a "noncriminal violation." State v. Webb, 335 So.2d 826, 827 (Fla. 1976). Thus, the state interest in preventing drunk driving, upheld in Sitz as a "grave and legitimate" state interest, 496 U.S. at 451, 110 S.Ct. at 2485-2486; in interdicting the flow of illegal drugs, upheld in Cardwell v. State, 482 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); or in detecting illegal aliens, upheld in Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. at 562, 96 s. ct. at 3085, all must be seen as more

compelling governmental interests than the state's interest in motor vehicle safety or in general education of the driving public advanced here, given the Legislature's minimal regulation of this matter. This conclusion is significant when a court, as here, is required to measure the reasonableness of the Fourth Amendment seizure, because a less compelling state interest will only support a less intrusive interference with liberty.

Campbell v. State, ___ So.2d ___, 20 F.L.W. D2132 (Fla. 1st DCA, September 13, 1995) (VanNortwick, dissenting).

The state's interests are further minimized when considering the extent of the intrusion upon the individual's Fourth Amendment rights. The roadblock was primarily conducted at night during periods of heavy traffic. [R.II, 29-30, 38]. Additionally, the roadblock was conducted on a three-quarter mile segment of road between two curves. Moreover, the roadblock was conducted in a residential area. [R.II, 16-17]. Based on these considerations, it becomes clear that the intrusion upon the individual's Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures outweighs the States's interest in preventing speeders, educating the public or checking for equipment problems. See, Brown V. Texas, 443 U.S. 47 (1979) (balancing legitimate governmental interest against degree of intrusion).

THE ROADBLOCK ADVANCED THE STATE'S INTEREST, IF AT ALL, ONLY MINIMALLY.

Any impact on the public was minimal or slight. Speeders will be convinced to reduce their speed only temporarily. there were two radar units at each end of the roadblock, there is no evidence in the record that such units were visible. assuming that motorists saw the radar units, the motorists will not be impressed to drive at the posted speed limits permanently. Rather, common sense and experience teach that the sight of a radar unit affects the motorists only temporarily. Significantly, none of the motorists who were stopped were informed that the roadblock was to educate them about speeding. It was "immediately explained to the drivers of the vehicles what the purpose was, told them that there had been a bad accident, we were doing a traffic safety stop, [and asked] if they had their drivers license." [R. II, 10]. Accordingly, the State's interest in preventing speeders was advanced minimally at best.

Likewise, the interest in preventing equipment problems was slightly advanced, if at all. Only those motorists who were given citations for equipment failure would be impressed to repair or replace the faulty equipment. The desired result that the roadblock educate and induce the other motorists to repair or replace their faulty equipment in their own vehicles is speculative.

Besides, had the State wanted to advance its interest in preventing speed and safety equipment violations, it should have considered the U.S. Supreme Court's advice from Prouse, Supreme:

The foremost method of enforcing traffic and vehicle safety regulations, it must be recalled, is acting upon observed violations.

<u>Prouse</u>, <u>supra</u> at 659. In other words, the most effective means of preventing vehicle safety violations is by routine patrol monitoring, not intrusive roadblocks.

THE SEVERITY OF THE INTRUSION UPON INDIVIDUAL MOTORISTS WAS SO EXCESSIVE AS TO VIOLATE CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARDS.

The use of roadblocks intrudes upon a citizen's liberty to drive his vehicle freely and with privacy. As the United States Supreme Court has stated:

An individual operating or traveling in an automobile does not lose all reasonable expectation of privacy simply because the and automobile and its use are subject to government regulation. Automobile travel is a basic, pervasive, and often necessary mode of transportation to and from one's and leisure workplace, activities. people spend more hours each day traveling in walking on the streets. than Undoubtedly, many find a greater sense of security and privacy in traveling in an automobile than they do in exposing themselves by pedestrian or other modes of travel. Were subject unfettered to individual governmental intrusion every time he entered an automobile, the security guaranteed by the Amendment would be seriously Fourth circumscribed.

<u>Delaware v. Prouse</u>, 440 U.S. 648, 662-63 (1979); <u>see United States v. Martinez-Fuerte</u>, 428 U.S. 543, 571 (1976) (Brennan, J., dissenting) (explaining that a roadblock was "a dragnet-like procedure offensive to the sensibilities of free citizens.").

The U.S. Supreme Court, recognizing that "unreviewable discretion would be abused by some officers in the field," held that a roadblock must have either a factual basis for suspicion or the existence of objective standards governing the exercise of discretion. Specifically, the Court held:

The marginal contribution to roadway safety possibly resulting from a system of spot

checks cannot justify subjecting occupant of every vehicle on the roads to a seizure - limited in magnitude compared to intrusions but nonetheless constitutionally cognizable - at the unbridled discretion of law enforcement officials. insist neither upon an appropriate factual basis for suspicion directed at a particular automobile nor upon some other substantial and objective standard or rule to govern the exercise οf discretion "would intrusions upon constitutionally guaranteed rights based on nothing more substantial than inarticulate hunches "

Prouse, 440 U.S. at 661, (citing, Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 22
(1968)).

A. The Roadblock Lacked Detailed Written Guidelines.

The Florida Supreme Court has required that written guidelines should detail the procedure which field officers are to follow at a roadblock:

Written guidelines should cover in detail the procedures which field officers are to follow at the roadblock. Ideally, these guidelines should set out with reasonable specificity procedures regarding the selection vehicles. detention techniques, duty assignments, and the disposition of vehicles . [C]ourts should view each set of guidelines as a whole when determining the plan's sufficiency.

State v. Jones, 483 So.2d 433, 438 (Fla. 1986). The <u>Jones</u> court held unconstitutional a discretionary roadblock involving seizures without articulable suspicion of illegal activity. Even with the higher-interest sobriety roadblock at issue in that case, the Supreme Court held that the State failed to prove that the roadblock met the balancing test enunciated in <u>Brown</u> and thus, the

roadblock violated the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Id. The Court reasoned:

Paramount among all other considerations, the fourth amendment requires that all seizures be based on either: (1) specific evidence of an existing violation; (2) showing a reasonable legislative oradministrative inspection standards are met; or(3) showing that officers carry out the search pursuant to a plan embodying specific neutral criteria which limit the conduct Because DUI roadblocks individual officers. involve seizures made without any articulable suspicion of illegal activity, most states examining this issue have ruled that such roadblocks stand or fall based on some set of neutral criteria governing the officers in the Courts requiring such a neutral plan do so out of a fear that unbridled discretion in the field invites abuse. We agree and find that it is essential that a written set of guidelines be issued before uniform roadblock can be utilized.

Id. (internal citation omitted). Accordingly, the Court held that advance written procedural guidelines for roadblocks are necessary to limit the discretion of field officers and thus, to restrict "the potential intrusion into the public's constitutional liberties." Id.

Additionally, the court in <u>Hartsfield v. State</u>, 629 So.2d 1020 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), applied <u>Jones</u> to reverse the denial of a suppression motion in a sobriety roadblock case. The <u>Hartsfield</u> court held that, "[t]he absence of specific written guidelines renders the roadblock operation fatally defective under <u>State v. Jones</u>." <u>Id</u>. The court held that officers' testimony regarding standard roadblock operating procedures was insufficient to meet the <u>Jones</u> constitutional standard.

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