OA 5-6.96

017

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PHILLIP CAMPBELL,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

CASE NO. 86,650

FILE D

MAR 18 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ Gler Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

While the State agrees that a stop of a motorist at a checkpoint constitutes a seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes, the State submits that traffic safety constitutes more than the enforcement of sobriety. Death can ensuare a trailing motorist who did not know, due to a defective brakelight, that the car ahead was braking, and, of course, "speed kills." In either case, the motorist is "just as dead" as one killed by an under-the-influence driver. A root of highway carnage is the deadliness of the instrumentality, placing the State's interest in traffic safety checkpoints at a pinnacle of constitutionally legitimate interest.

Here, this specific traffic safety checkpoint furthered the State's interest in traffic safety through the checkpoint's obvious general deterrence, its conspicuous police emphasis on

the radar units through signs, lights, and multiple officers, and its effectiveness statistics at least twice as high as the United States Supreme Court used to approve other roadblocks.

Much of Petitioner's argument distills to an attempt to micromanage police policy, an approach that has been explicitly rejected in Fourth Amendment analysis.

Just as Petitioner would require, contrary to constitutional standards, perfection in the effectiveness of this checkpoint, he also would require, contrary to constitutional standards, that the most minute of details be specified in writing in advance, not allowing officers in the field any discretion whatsoever. To the contrary, as this Court has recognized and as the First DCA below recognized, the Fourth Amendment does not require the elimination of all discretion. Instead, it condemns unbridled discretion. Here, the previously existing written guidelines, in conjunction with the supervisory presence of a high-ranking officer and the readily identifiable nature of the traffic violations, provided the requisite constraint.

### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

WAS THE TRAFFIC SAFETY CHECKPOINT REASONABLE UNDER THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION? (Restated)

## Petitioner ignores the standard of appellate review.

The trial court's conclusion that Petitioner's Motion to Suppress should be denied is entitled to benefits that Petitioner would deny. The gravamen of Petitioner's argument presumes that the trial court was incorrect and denies the trial court's ruling the benefit of a favorable interpretation of the evidence. This is contrary to well-established principles of appellate review.

The ruling of the trial court on a motion to suppress, when it comes to the reviewing court, is clothed with the presumption of correctness, and the reviewing court will interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustain the trial court's ruling.

McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1978).

# Basic principles support the reasonableness of the traffic safety checkpoint.

The State agrees with Petitioner that the police "seized" each car that was stopped in the traffic safety checkpoint at issue

here (IB 7), <u>See Michigan Dept. of State Police v. Sitz</u>, 496 U.S. 444, 450, 110 S.Ct. 2481, 110 L.Ed.2d 412, 420 (1990). 1

The State agrees that "reasonableness" is the basic test for determining the constitutionality of this checkpoint (IB 7), See, e.g., Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 653-654, 99 S.Ct. 1391, 59 L.Ed.2d 660, 667 (1979) ("The essential purpose of the proscriptions in the Fourth Amendment is to impose a standard of 'reasonableness' upon the exercise of discretion by government officials").

The State also agrees with Petitioner's implied recognition (at IB 8-9) that Fourth Amendment applications ultimately distill to balancing the public interest against expectations of privacy that society recognizes as reasonable. See, e.g., Michigan Dept. of State Police v. Sitz, 496 U.S. at 451-52, 110 L.Ed.2d at 420 (1990) (balance state interest against "measure of intrusion on motorists"); Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Assn., 489 U.S. 602, 619, 109 S.Ct. 1402, 103 L.Ed.2d 639 (1989) ("the permissibility of a particular practice 'is judged by balancing its intrusion on the individual's Fourth Amendment interests against its promotion of legitimate governmental interests'"); U.S. v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543, 555-56, 96 S.Ct. 3074, 49

Implicit throughout Petitioner's Initial Brief and this brief is the maxim that search and seizure decisions of the United States Supreme Court are binding on all Florida courts. See, e.g., Daniel v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S497, S497 (Fla. Sept. 28, 1995); Perez v. State, 620 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 1994).

L.Ed. 2d 1116, 1127 (1976) ("other traffic-checking practices involve a different balance of public and private interests and appropriately are subject to less stringent constitutional safeguards").

Thus, in this case, a fundamental policy backdrop to any analysis of the state's interest served by this checkpoint is the relatively low reasonable expectation of privacy a citizen possesses while occupying an automobile. See, e.g., N.Y. v. Class, 475 U.S. 106, 112-15, 106 S.Ct. 960, 89 L.Ed.2d 81 (1986); Cady v. Dombrowski, 413 US. 433, 441-42, 93 S.Ct. 2523, 37 L.Ed.2d 706 (1973). The State's interest in regulating the automobile, discussed at length infra, stands in sharp contrast to this relatively low privacy interest.

More specifically, and as Petitioner points out, (IB 7) the three factors enunciated as such in <u>Brown v. Texas</u>, 443 U.S. 47, 99 S.Ct. 2637, 61 L.Ed.2d 357 (1979), and weighed in <u>Sitz</u> determine whether the checkpoint was "reasonable":

- 1. "the gravity of the public concerns served by the seizure,"
- 2. "the degree to which the seizure advances the public interest," which <u>Sitz</u> characterized as the "effectiveness" of a checkpoint, 496 U.S. at 453-55, 110 L.Ed.2d at 422-23, and
- 3. "the severity of the interference with individual liberty,"

"A central concern in balancing these competing considerations in a variety of settings has been to assure that an individual's reasonable expectation of privacy is not

subject to arbitrary invasions solely at the **unfettered** discretion of officers in the field." <u>Brown</u>, 443 U.S. at 50-51, 61 L.Ed.2d at 363.

Thus, an overriding concern is whether this traffic safety checkpoint afforded the police "unfettered discretion," which has also been characterized as "unbridled discretion," State v. Jones, 483 So. 2d 433, 438 (Fla. 1986); Prouse, 440 U.S. at 661, 663, "unconstrained" discretion, Prouse, 440 U.S. at 663, and "standardless" discretion, Prouse, 440 U.S. at 661.

Analytically, this is the juncture where the State parts company with Petitioner's position. Petitioner minimizes the significant state interest in the public safety purpose of this checkpoint (See IB 8-11), while ignoring motorists' reduced Fourth Amendment expectation of privacy; totally ignores the effectiveness of the checkpoint by, instead, attempting to replace police supervisors with himself and this Court to choose among "reasonable alternatives," Sitz, 496 U.S. at 453-54; totally ignores this checkpoint's de-minimis level of intrusion (See IB 8-23); and gives lip-service the principle of "unbridled discretion" (IB 15, 18) then distorts it by demanding a level of constraint uncontemplated in Jones, Sitz, Prouse, or Martinez-Fuerte.

## I. The "public concerns served by" this checkpoint were weighty.

"[T]he automobile has become the most deadly machine in America." <u>Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson</u>, 86 So. 629, 633 (Fla. 1920). As this Court pointed out:

It is idle to say that the Legislature imposed all these restraints, regulations, and restrictions upon the use of automobiles [registration, adequate brakes, signaling devices, lights, speed limits, ...] if they were not dangerous agencies which the Legislature felt it was its duty to regulate and restrain for the protection of the public.

The courts seem to be unanimous on the proposition that, for the purpose of the exercise of the state's police power, the automobile in operation is a dangerous agency that requires stringent regulatory legislation in the interests of the public safety.

Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson, 86 So. at 634, 635 (dangerous instrumentality doctrine). See also Williamson v. State, 111 So. 124 (Fla. 1926) (automobile constitutes a deadly weapon for purposes of Aggravated Assault).

"[V]ehicular carnage" is not limited to a lack of sobriety.

State v. Potter, 438 So.2d 1085, 1087 n.2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983)("in general and that by alcohol"). Accordingly, today, the legislature has heavily regulated the use of motor vehicles, including safety-related matters targeted in the checkpoint at

The dangerous instrumentality doctrine dictates that, subject to some exceptions, the owner of the vehicle is vicariously liable for the negligent operation of the vehicle no matter who is driving. See Hertz Corp. v. Jackson, 617 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1993).

issue here. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, § 316.234(1), Fla. Stat. (brake light); § 316.189, Fla. Stat. (speed limits).

The purposes of this checkpoint — speeding, proper mechanical equipment such as brake lights, and educating the public — have not received the same media attention as driving under the influence, but the degree of media attention does not undermine the State's interest in them. See, e.g., Jones v. Kirkman, 138 So. 2d 513, 515 (Fla. 1962) ("any reasonable restriction upon or condition attached to the continued employment of the [driving] privilege will be upheld in the interest of public safety");

Duval Lumber Co. v. Slade, 2 So. 2d 371, 372 (Fla. 1941) ("regulation of traffic on public streets or highways is in the exercise of the sovereign police power"); LaFave and Israel, 1 Criminal Procedure §3.9(g) at 330 (1984) ("States have a vital interest in ensuring that ... vehicles are fit for safe operation").

When someone driving a motor vehicle rear-ends a stopped car due to the stopped car's inoperative brake lights, the amount of human suffering can be tragic. Due to speed, when a car fails to stop in time or fails to maneuver, resulting in a collision, the human suffering can be tragic. "Speed kills" by reducing reaction time perhaps as much as alcohol can reduce reaction time, and defective brake lights may eliminate virtually all reaction time.

A traffic safety checkpoint like this one would have been justified if the police had been checking only for brake lights.

The inclusion of speed and other equipment checks provide an abundance of State interest in this checkpoint.

Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has approved as constitutional "inspection checkpoints," <u>Del. v. Prouse</u>, 440 U.S. 648, 663 n.26 (1979) (dicta) discussed approvingly in <u>Sitz</u>, 496 U.S. at 454. <u>Prouse</u>, 440 U.S. at 658, reasoned:

Although the record discloses no statistics concerning the extent of the problem of lack of highway safety, in Delaware or in the Nation as a whole, we are aware of the danger to life and property posed by vehicular traffic and of the difficulties that even a cautious and an experienced driver may encounter. We agree that the States have a vital interest in ensuring that only those qualified to do so are permitted to operate motor vehicles, that these **vehicles are fit for safe operation**, and hence that licensing, registration, and vehicle inspection requirements are being observed.

In support of its point, the United States Supreme Court, <u>Id.</u> at n. 14, footnoted that in "1977, 47,671 persons died in motor vehicle accidents in this country" and cited to U.S. Dept. of Transportation, Highway Safety A-9 (1977).

As <u>Martinez-Fuerte</u> explicitly noted, checkpoint stops "to enforce laws regarding drivers' licenses, safety requirements, weight limits, and similar matters" has "a long history evidencing its utility and is accepted by motorists as incident to highway use, " 428 U.S. at 560 n. 14.

Therefore, the First District Court of Appeal correctly reasoned that "[t]he state has a vital interest in the health, safety and welfare of its citizens which justifies reasonable use of roadblocks to enforce motor vehicle safety laws and to prevent

traffic accidents," <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2132, D2133 (Fla. 1st DCA Sept. 13, 1995).

# II. This checkpoint advanced the public interest, that is, it was sufficiently effective.

In violation of the standard of appellate review, entitling the trial court's ruling to reasonable factual inferences, E.g., McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d at 412 (trial court's ruling entitled to inferences in its favor); U.S. v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543, 554, 49 L.Ed. 2d at 1126 (1976) (although no statistical information concerning one of the roadblocks, Court "assumed that fewer pass by undetected, as every motorist is questioned"), Petitioner speculates that "[o]nly those motorists who were given citations for equipment failure would be impressed to repair or replace the faulty equipment" (IB 12). In essence, Petitioner has totally ignored the concept of general deterrence<sup>3</sup> as a valid justification for an exercise of a state's police power. See Orr v. People, 803 P.2d 509, 511 (Colo. 1990) (post-Sitz; en banc; number of arrests at checkpoint, insignificant; instead, primary purpose is deterrence). Cf. Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 404, 110 S.Ct. 2447, 110 L.Ed.2d

Bae v. Shalala, 44 F. 3d 489, 494 (7th Cir. 1995), summarized the difference between specific and general deterrence: "General deterrence aims to dissuade all persons from violating the laws. In contrast, specific or special deterrence aims to change a particular individual's behavior through negative reinforcement."

359, 381 (1990) ("district court is best acquainted with the local bar's litigation practices and thus best situated to determine when a sanction is warranted to serve Rule 11's goal of specific and general deterrence").

The First DCA correctly reasoned that "[t]he public is best served by a regime that deters drivers from traveling in unsafe vehicles and identifies safety defects before the vehicles are involved in accidents. See State v. Patterson, 582 A.2d 1204 (Me. 1990)."

Accordingly, it is reasonable to infer that the police promoted general deterrence by immediately explaining to each stopped motorist the purpose of the stop and by explaining that they "were doing a traffic safety stop," that they were educating them of a "police presence," that they were responding to a speeding complaint, that the police were trying to slow people down, that they were checking for faulty equipment, and "that there had been a bad accident" (T 10, 32, 33).

Petitioner wishes to dictate to the police the tactics for enforcing Florida's speeding and equipment laws. Petitioner would replace his judgment for the judgment of the police, and he asks this Honorable Court to do the same. This is clearly inappropriate according to the United States Supreme Court in <u>Sitz</u>, 496 U.S. at 453-54:

... Brown v. Texas ... describes the balancing factor as 'the degree which the seizure advances the public interest.' This ... was not meant to transfer from politically accountable officials to courts the decision as to which among reasonable alternative law enforcement techniques should be employed to deal

with a serious public danger. Experts in police science might disagree over which of several methods of apprehending drunken drivers is preferable as an ideal. But for purposes of Fourth Amendment analysis, the choice among reasonable alternatives remains with governmental officials who have a unique understanding of, and a responsibility for, limited resources, including a finite number of police officers.

The question here becomes whether our traffic safety check was a reasonably effective alternative, not, as Petitioner argues, whether it was the "most effective means of preventing vehicle safety violations" (IB 13).

To determine reasonableness of the roadblock alternative in Sitz, the United States Supreme Court looked at the drunk-driving arrest rate for that roadblock and held that the arrest of two drivers for alcohol impairment out of 126 detained vehicles, a 1.6 percent rate, was sufficiently effective. 496 U.S. at 454-55. Sitz also cited approvingly to rates in U.S. v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543 (1976): "illegal aliens were found in only 0.12 percent of the vehicles passing through the checkpoint"; a ratio of approximately 0.5 percent of illegal aliens detected to vehicles stopped. Id. at 455. Our traffic safety check was even more effective.

The evidence introduced in the trial court was not precise, but, contrary to the inferences to which the trial court's ruling is entitled on appeal, <u>See</u> discussion, <u>supra</u>, and even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable **to Petitioner**, his argument must fail.

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